




1

From:
Sent: 15 May 2018 10:51 a.m.
To:
Subject: FW: Official Information request - Review of double bunking assessment protocols

Hi  
 
I’m sure you’re already aware, but FYI, we’ve had another request for the SACRA review report which we recently 
released to . 
 
I assume the decision was that the report would not be published on the website?  
 
Thanks, 
 

.  
 
 
-----Original Message----- 
From: BAW Russell [mailto:fyi-request-7774-7014ba34@requests.fyi.org.nz]  
Sent: 06 May 2018 9:50 p.m. 
To: Info@Corrections 
Subject: Official Information request - Review of double bunking assessment protocols 
 
Dear Department of Corrections, 
 
In a media report from September 2017 a Corrections spokesman stated the double bunking protocols would be reviewed 
following a series of rapes (http://www.radionz.co.nz/news/national/338967/double-bunking-under-review-after-cell-
rapes). I am requesting a copy of this review. If the review is not yet finalised I seek the most recent draft and the most 
recent timetable for completion of the review. 
 
Given that the Corrections Amendment Bill is currently before the Justice Select Committee and includes changes to the 
management of cell sharing, I ask that a response be provided urgently. 
 
Yours faithfully, 
 
BAW Russell 
 
------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
This is an Official Information request made via the FYI website. 
 
Please use this email address for all replies to this request: 
fyi-request-7774-7014ba34@requests.fyi.org.nz 
 
Is info@corrections.govt.nz the wrong address for Official Information requests to Department of Corrections? If so, 
please contact us using this form: 
https://fyi.org.nz/change_request/new?body=department_of_corrections 
 
Disclaimer: This message and any reply that you make will be published on the internet. Our privacy and copyright 
policies: 
https://fyi.org.nz/help/officers 
 
If you find this service useful as an Official Information officer, please ask your web manager to link to us from your 
organisation's OIA or LGOIMA page. 
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From:
Sent: 19 June 2018 09:48 a.m.
To:
Subject: FW: SENS OIA going today - BAW Russell via FYI website requesting a copy of the 

review of the SACRA process - C95840
Attachments: Response C95840.pdf

Morning  
 
FYI Ministerial Services are releasing the Operational Review of the SACRA process again. This time to a member of the 
public who has requested it via the FYI website. It is exactly the same response that was provided to the journalist 

 in April this year (copy attached). The response was approved by Gillon & Richard, and signed out by 
Rachel.  
 
Just wanted to give you a heads up in the event that Corrections get any follow-up questions about the review.  
 
Please let me know if you’ve got any questions.  
 
Many thanks, 
 
 

 | Ministerial Services Adviser | 
National Office | Department of Corrections Ara Poutama Aotearoa |  
Mayfair House, 44‐52 The Terrace, Wellington | Private Bag 1206, Wellington 6140 | 

 | 

 
 
 
 
 

From:   
Sent: 19 June 2018 9:32 a.m. 
To:

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Cc:  
Subject: SENS OIA going today - BAW Russell via FYI website requesting a copy of the review of the SACRA process - 
C95840 
 
Kind regards, 
 
 

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
Sent: 19 June 2018 09:52 a.m.
To:
Subject: RE: SENS OIA going today - BAW Russell via FYI website requesting a copy of the 

review of the SACRA process - C95840

Thanks . 
 

From:   
Sent: 19 June 2018 9:48 a.m. 
To:  
Subject: FW: SENS OIA going today - BAW Russell via FYI website requesting a copy of the review of the SACRA 
process - C95840 
 
Morning , 
 
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
Sent: 06 August 2018 09:37 a.m.
To:  
Cc:  
Subject: Sens OIA - BAW Russell - FYI.org.nz - C98772
Attachments: Official Information request - Data on SACRA assessments; Letter C95840.pdf

Morning  and  
 
We’ve received the below OIA. Attached is the 19 June response he refers to. Mr Russell wants to know whether we are 
completing SACRA assessments on time and whether we are following their results correctly. 
 

, I remember you looking into the results of SACRA, do you still do this? Or has then gone to BAU? 
 
Am I able to get the answers to the below by the end of this week? 
 

In your response of 19 June 2018 to my request for the review of the SACRA tool you also provided information 
on the timely completion of SACRA assessments. I am interested in better understanding this information. For 
each prison for the last financial year please provide me with: 
 
* the total throughput of prisoners 
* the total number of prisoners held in shared cells (throughput view) 
* the total number of SACRA assessments undertaken 
* the total number of SACRA assessments completed on time 
* the total number of times the SACRA assessment indicated the prisoner should not be held in a shared cell 
* the total number of times the SACRA assessment indicated the prisoner could be held in a shared cell 
 
My aim is to determine what number and percentage of prisoners at each prison are held in a shared cell without 
having a SACRA completed on time. I am happy to discuss changes to the request to accurately capture this 
information. 

 
Happy to discuss 
 

 | Senior Ministerial Adviser | Ministerial Services 
National Office  | Department of Corrections Ara Poutama Aotearoa |  
Mayfair House, 44‐52 The Terrace, Wellington | PO Box 1206, Wellington 6140 | 
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From: BAW Russell <xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx@xxxxxxxx.xxx.xxx.xx>
Sent: 03 August 2018 10:42 a.m.
To: Info@Corrections
Subject: Official Information request - Data on SACRA assessments

Dear Department of Corrections, 
 
In your response of 19 June 2018 to my request for the review of the SACRA tool you also provided information on the 
timely completion of SACRA assessments. I am interested in better understanding this information. For each prison for 
the last financial year please provide me with: 
 
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
 
My aim is to determine what number and percentage of prisoners at each prison are held in a shared cell without having a 
SACRA completed on time. I am happy to discuss changes to the request to accurately capture this information. 
 
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
fyi-request-8428-26fc7ee0@requests.fyi.org.nz 
 
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
Sent: 08 August 2018 02:52 p.m.
To:
Cc:
Subject: FW: RA3048: Sens OIA - BAW Russell - FYI.org.nz - C98772

Information as requested 
 

1. Total throughput of prisoners 
Total prison throughput, meaning number of prison sentences plus remand periods started in a year, totals 
around 20,000; however, this figure bears no meaningful relationship to the number of occasions that prisoners 
are assessed for, or commence, cell-sharing, as a single prisoner may be assessed and placed in a cell-sharing 
situation on multiple occasions over the course of a remand or sentence period.  
 

2. Total number of prisoners held in shared cells (throughput view) 
It is not possible to calculate such a number on an annual “throughput” basis. 
 

3. Total number of SACRA assessments undertaken 
4. Total number of SACRA assessments completed on time 

The table below provides number of SACRAs completed between 01/07/2017 and 30/06/2018, as well as a split 
by timeliness.  

 

PRISON 
Completed on 
time 

% Completed 
on time 

TOTAL

AROHATA PRISON  623 81.8%  762

AUCKLAND REGION WOMEN’S CORRECTIONS 
FACILITY  4278

91.7%  4667

AUCKLAND SOUTH CORRECTIONS FACILITY  2894 92.3%  3137

CHRISTCHURCH PRISON  4674 88.9%  5258

HAWKES BAY PRISON  2239 76.5%  2925

INVERCARGILL PRISON  606 90.4%  670

MANAWATU PRISON  832 74.7%  1114

MT EDEN CORRECTIONS FACILITY  22647 95.7%  23669

NORTHLAND REGION CORRECTIONS FACILITY  4391 93.7%  4688

OTAGO REGION CORRECTIONS FACILITY  2663 92.2%  2888

RIMUTAKA PRISON  3618 71.4%  5068

SPRING HILL CORRECTIONS FACILITY  6397 93.1%  6869

WAIKERIA PRISON  4639 94.2%  4927

WHANGANUI PRISON  946 83.1%  1138

TOTAL  61447 90.7%  67780

 
 

5. Total number of times the SACRA assessment indicated the prisoner could be held in a shared cell 
6. Total number of times the SACRA assessment indicated the prisoner should not be held in a shared cell 

The outcomes of individual SACRAs, concerning whether the person is or is not suitable for cell-sharing, are not 
recorded in a manner that would allow these questions to be answered. 
 
NB - as per the OIA, the requestor states that their interest is annual numbers and percentages of prisoners at each 
prison held in shared cells without having a SACRA completed on time. This is adequately addressed by the table above.
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 | Director Research & Analysis | 

Mayfair House | Department of Corrections Ara Poutama Aotearoa |  
44 The Terrace | PO Box 1206 | Wellington 

  

 
 
 
 

From:   
Sent: 06 August 2018 9:37 a.m. 
To:  
Cc:  
Subject: Sens OIA - BAW Russell - FYI.org.nz - C98772 
 
Morning  and , 
 
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
Sent: 13 August 2018 09:23 a.m.
To:
Subject: RE: RA3048: Sens OIA - BAW Russell - FYI.org.nz - C98772

This is the number of prisoner receptions in 2017/18 (remands, sentenced, recalls) 
 

SITE STARTS 

AROHATA PRISON 383 

ARWCF 1713 

AUCKLAND PRISON 285 

CHRISTCHURCH PRISON 2314 
CHRISTCHURCH 
WOMENS 

325 

HAWKES BAY PRISON 1482 

INVERCARGILL PRISON 510 

MANAWATU PRISON 965 

MECF 5989 

NRCF 1346 

OCF 713 

RIMUTAKA PRISON 1810 

SHCF 2298 

WAIKERIA PRISON 2492 

WHANGANUI PRISON 1032 

TOTAL 23,657 

 
 
 

From:   
Sent: 13 August 2018 8:42 a.m. 
To:  
Cc:  
Subject: RE: RA3048: Sens OIA - BAW Russell - FYI.org.nz - C98772 
 
Morning , 
 
Is it possible to get a more specific answer for the total throughput of prisoners for 17/18? 
 
 
Thanks 

 | Senior Adviser, Ministerial Services | 
  

 

From:   
Sent: 08 August 2018 2:52 p.m. 
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
Sent: 06 August 2018 10:04 a.m.
To:
Cc:
Subject: RE: Sens OIA - BAW Russell - FYI.org.nz - C98772

Morning all, 
 
I can confirm SACRA has been BAU since the review last year and I have not been actively involved. 
 

 team will hopefully be able to provide you with the information requested re throughputs and undertaken/on time 
(data requests could pull the non-throughput info/numbers from COBRA if required). 
 
Re the last two: 
 

* the total number of times the SACRA assessment indicated the prisoner should not be held in a shared cell 
* the total number of times the SACRA assessment indicated the prisoner could be held in a shared cell 

 
I’m not aware of whether IOMS would capture and retain data that could be extracted regarding the first request, and 
NTDB alerts can be added for numerous reasons so would not be an ideal way of cross-referencing numbers of prisoners 
who were assessed as not being suitable for sharing a cell. 
 
Regarding the second, again, I would defer to the analysts in  team who would be able to identify numbers. 
 
Thanks all, 
 

 | Principal Custodial Adviser 
 

 

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
Sent: 24 April 2018 05:46 p.m.
To:
Subject: RE: Official Information request - Research on cell sharing - Corrections Amendment 

Bill - C95403

Hi  
 
The statement re cell-sharing research was based on the Department’s research from 2012 (the executive summary of 
that research report sets it out well).  That research was done by  team, so if you have any more questions about it 
he might be better placed to help you out, but happy to assist further as needed too. 
 
Cheers,  
 

From:   
Sent: 20 April 2018 10:10 a.m. 
To:  
Subject: FW: Official Information request - Research on cell sharing - Corrections Amendment Bill - C95403 
 
Hi  
 
Ministerial Services has received the below OIA request about research supporting an explanatory note to the 
Corrections Amendment Bill, which is currently before Select Committee.  
 
The aspect of the bill that Mr Russell refers to is:  
 
Cell sharing 
Although it is recognised that single-cell accommodation can be preferable, research has shown that cell sharing is 
acceptable if properly managed. The regulations provide rules for cell sharing under the regulation-making power of the 
Act, subject to some exceptions. 
 
He has asked for all research that the statement specifically refers to, and any other research Corrections has done. 
 
I know that this is probably our biggest piece of research available on the website:   
 
http://www.corrections.govt.nz/resources/research_and_statistics/prisoner_double-
bunking_perceptions_and_impacts_2012.html  
 
and that we’ve also released this report by the Ombudsman:  
 
http://www.corrections.govt.nz/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/900896/COTA_Report_-
_Spring_Hill_Corrections_Facility_Double_Bunking_May_2010_Redacted.pdf  
 
If you’re able to provide some guidance on what exactly the explanatory note refers to, that would be great. Please also 
let me know if this requires consultation with  team.  
 
I would appreciate a response by 27 April 2018.  
 
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
From: BAW Russell [mailto:fyi-request-7648-86524700@requests.fyi.org.nz]  
Sent: 18 April 2018 1:09 p.m. 
To: Info@Corrections 
Subject: Official Information request - Research on cell sharing 
 
Dear Department of Corrections, 
 
In the explanatory note to the Corrections Amendment Bill you state that "although it is recognised that single-cell 
accommodation can be preferable, research has shown that cell sharing is acceptable if properly managed". I seek all 
research referred to in this statement and any other research the Department has considered in reaching the conclusion 
in the statement. 
 
Given that the Justice Select Committee is currently calling for submissions on the Bill I ask that this request be treated as 
urgent. 
 
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
fyi-request-7648-86524700@requests.fyi.org.nz 
 
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
Sent: 01 May 2018 04:02 p.m.
To:
Subject: RE: Official Information request - Research on cell sharing - Corrections Amendment 

Bill - C95403

Hi - yes, my team are the wonders of the report.  Am not aware of any others with an interest in it. 
 

From:   
Sent: 01 May 2018 4:00 p.m. 
To:  
Subject: Official Information request - Research on cell sharing - Corrections Amendment Bill - C95403 
 
I’ve just realised he is indeed requesting a copy of this report….  
 
Are your team the “owners” of the report internally within Corrections? Aside from legal, are you aware of others who 
should be consulted about this release? 
 
I imagine the best way to proceed would be to release a summary as we have done previously, as the security concerns 
will still be relevant. 
 

 
 
 

 Ministerial Services Adviser | 
National Office | Department of Corrections Ara Poutama Aotearoa |  
Mayfair House, 44‐52 The Terrace, Wellington | Private Bag 1206, Wellington 6140 | 

 | 

 
 
 
 
 

From:   
Sent: 01 May 2018 3:12 p.m. 
To:  
Subject: RE: Official Information request - Research on cell sharing - Corrections Amendment Bill - C95403 
 
Hi  
 
Thanks – I’ve checked our records and talked to a colleague about the report. Looks like we’ve released a summary but 
never the full report because of security concerns. At this stage I intend to mention it in my response given that it’s 
supporting evidence for our statement in the explanatory note.  
 

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
Sent: 27 April 2018 4:00 p.m. 
To:  
Subject: RE: Official Information request - Research on cell sharing - Corrections Amendment Bill - C95403 
 
Hi there ‐ the notion that "although it is recognised that single‐cell accommodation can be preferable, research has 
shown that cell sharing is acceptable if properly managed" is mainly based on findings from the 2012 study that you 
have the link for, below; it is however also endorsed by another (2015) report which I have attached ‐ e.g., from 
p.39:  All prisoners reported feeling safe within their current double‐bunking situation, and staff without prior experience 
of single‐bunking, considered the double‐bunked arrangement normal. 
 
Unfortunately I am unable to recall if we have ever released the   report before, I know there were some 
sensitivities about it as it was commissioned in response to a legal action initiated by  who 
alleged all manner of nefarious things associated with cell sharing. 
 
 

From:   
Sent: 27 April 2018 3:48 p.m. 
To:  
Subject: FW: Official Information request - Research on cell sharing - Corrections Amendment Bill - C95403 
 
Hi   
 
Sorry to email you so late on a Friday. This can wait til next week.  
 
Policy have mostly given me the information I need to answer an OIA about research on cell sharing noted in the 
Corrections Amendment Bill (please see below). However, I thought I’d run it past you to double-check. 
 
When I go back to the requester, is it sufficient to say that the research informing the statement he refers to is from 
Corrections 2012 research? Is there anything else I should mention?  
 
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
Sent: 24 April 2018 5:46 p.m. 
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
that research report sets it out well).  That research was done by Peter’s team, so if you have any more questions about it 
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
let me know if this requires consultation with Peter Johnston’s team.  
 
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
Sent: 03 May 2018 08:27 a.m.
To:  )
Subject: RE: Official Information request - Research on cell sharing - Corrections Amendment 

Bill - C95403

Nothing to add from me.  
 

 | Acting Senior Adviser to Deputy National Commissioner | 
  

 

From:   
Sent: 03 May 2018 7:49 a.m. 
To:   
Subject: FW: Official Information request - Research on cell sharing - Corrections Amendment Bill - C95403 
 
Hi , 
 
Thanks for checking.  
 
I don’t see an issue, especially if we’ve released it before. We may however have to make mention on whether our 
proportion of double bunked cells has increased since the report was originally prepared. 
 

and  – just wanted to check whether you have any views on  proposed response to this OIA? 
 
Thanks, 

  
 

 | Senior Adviser to National Commissioner 
 

 
 

 

From:   
Sent: 02 May 2018 10:36 a.m. 
To:  
Subject: FW: Official Information request - Research on cell sharing - Corrections Amendment Bill - C95403 
 
Hi  
 
We’ve received an OIA request for information about cell sharing and double-bunking via the FYI website. 
 
I’ve run this past policy and research and it appears that there are two reports in scope of the request. 
 
One is our publicly available research on the website (the 2012 study). The other is a report by  
that was done in response to legal action from .  
 
We’ve previously released a summary of the report (response attached), and given our reasons for withholding, I imagine 
this would be the best course of action in this case too.  
 
Given the subject matter, I thought I’d get your view on releasing a summary again.  
 
Sorry, if any of this is confusing, please give me a call  
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
Sent: 01 May 2018 4:02 p.m. 
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
sensitivities about it as it was commissioned in response to a legal action initiated by   who 
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

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

9(2)(a)

9(2)(a)

9(2)(a)

9(
2)
(a)9(2)(a)

9(2)(a)

9(2)(a)

9(2)(a)

9(2)(a)



5

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
Sent: 14 May 2018 09:00 a.m.
To:
Subject: FW: Official Information request - Research on cell sharing - C95403
Attachments: Draft response C95403.docx; Summary of the report into double-bunking at 

NRCF.DOCX

Morning , 
 
This OIA will be for Jo's sign-out.  
 
I have attached our proposed response (it is currently with the DCE for review). Please let me know if you have any 
additional comments/feedback.  
 
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
 



 

 
 
 
 
 
28 January 2019         C95403 

 
 
BAW Russell 
xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx@xxxxxxxx.xxx.xxx.xx  
 
 
Dear Mr Russell  
 
Thank you for your email of 18 April 2018 requesting research referred to in the 
explanatory note to the Corrections Amendment Bill. Your request has been 
considered under the Official Information Act 1982 (OIA). 
 
You requested: 
 
In the explanatory note to the Corrections Amendment Bill you state that 
"although it is recognised that single-cell accommodation can be preferable, 
research has shown that cell sharing is acceptable if properly managed". I seek 
all research referred to in this statement and any other research the Department 
has considered in reaching the conclusion in the statement. 
 
The Corrections Amendment Bill includes a number of amendments to the 
Corrections Act 2004 designed to improve the ability of the Department of 
Corrections to safely and humanely manage prisoners, improve prisoner 
discipline and safety, and ensure the fair treatment of prisoners.  
 
The prison population has increased at a rate considerably higher than forecast. 
The increase and subsequent demand for prison capacity is heavily influenced 
by external factors outside Corrections’ direct control, including legislative 
changes, judicial decision making, policing trends and crime levels.  
 
Managing prisoners safely is a duty Corrections takes extremely seriously. We 
have a range of policies, processes and tools in place to identify and mitigate 
concerns about prisoner safety.  
 
As you will be aware, beginning in the early 2000s, changes to policy, 
legislation sentencing practice and offending rates meant that an increasing 
number of prisoners needed to be accommodated. In response, the number of 
double-bunked cells across the prison network were increased. Double bunking 
is common practice internationally, including in Australia and the United 
Kingdom.  
 
 



 

In order to measure the impact of the increased use of double bunking, two 
phases of research were undertaken. The resulting report is available on our 
website here: http://www.corrections.govt.nz/resources/research_and_statistics/ 
prisoner_double-bunking_perceptions_and_impacts_2012.html. The research 
found no measurable increase in the rate of incidents involving prisoners in 
those units during periods when the proportion of double-bunking increased. 
The research also found that while around 60 percent of prisoners preferred to 
be housed in single cell accommodation, other thought that sharing a cell could 
help with their literacy skills and provide some support, particularly for young 
prisoners accommodated together. Currently, around 30 percent of our prison 
capacity is double bunked.  
 
Prior to being double bunked, prisoners are comprehensively assessed for their 
suitability to share accommodation. A tool called the Shared Accommodation 
Cell Risk Assessment tool (SACRA) guides trained custodial staff to consider a 
significant range of information about the prisoner including their offending 
history, prison experience, physical characteristics, gang affiliations, mental 
health needs, and history of violence toward others. The information enables 
staff to consider the risk that the prisoner may present to another prisoner, or be 
subject to themselves, if placed in a shared cell. The SACRA process does not 
replace staff judgement.  
 
You may also be interested to know that the newly implemented POM I.10.07 
Support Plan for Trans Prisoners policy stipulates that a transgender prisoner 
must be placed in a cell on their own and not double-bunked with another 
prisoner. This policy gives consideration to the safety of all prisoners, although it 
may be overridden by the Prison Director if two transgender prisoners with the 
same gender identity choose to be placed in a shared cell, in which case their 
suitability would be assessed using the SACRA.  
 
The statement that “although it is recognised that single-cell accommodation 
can be preferable, research has shown that cell sharing is acceptable if properly 
managed” is mainly based on findings from the 2012 study mentioned above. 
Therefore, your request is declined under section 18(d) of the OIA as the 
information requested is publicly available.  
 
This notion is also endorsed by another report into double bunking completed in 
May 2015 by Julian King & Associates. The document is titled “Northland 
Region Corrections Facility Double-Bunking Review”. The document cannot be 
released in full as it contains security information relating to prison 
infrastructure. We are also concerned that release of these types of reviews 
would hinder the flow of information for future similar reviews. It is important that 
such reports are conducted in a way that encourages frank examination of all 
matters under review.  
 
Therefore, we have prepared a summary of the report in accordance with 
section 16(1)(e) of the OIA, which provides that where the information 
requested by any person is comprised in a document, that information may be 



 

made available by giving an excerpt or summary of the contents. A copy of the 
summary is enclosed for your reference.  
 
I hope this information is useful. If you have any concerns with this response, I 
would encourage you to raise these with the Department. Alternatively you are 
advised of your right to also raise any concerns with the Office of the 
Ombudsman. Contact details are: Office of the Ombudsman, PO Box 10152, 
Wellington 6143. 
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
 
Jo Field  
Deputy Chief Executive 
Service Development  
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Summary of the Northland Region Corrections Double-bunking review 
 
Background 
 
The Department of Corrections (the Department) faces short and long-term needs to 
accommodate an increasing number of prisoners in cost-effective ways. This is due 
to a number of factors including changes in government policy, legislation, 
sentencing practice, actual offending rates and the New Zealand Police crime 
resolution.  Since 2009, a number of options that add capacity to the prison estate 
have been introduced, including increased double-bunking in existing prison cells. 
Double-bunking is common throughout prisons in western jurisdictions, as a 
response to rising prisoner numbers.  
 
The Department has long-term experience in operating multi-occupant prison cells. 
In the past few decades, the proportion of shared-cells has varied between 21 
percent and the current 32 percent of the total prison system. Between 2009 and 
2011 an extension of double-bunking represented a 75 percent increase in shared 
cell accommodation. During the expansion, approximately 350 additional prison staff 
were recruited, and a number of supportive policies and procedures developed to 
guide decision-making about who to double-bunk and with whom. These included 
the implementation of the Shared Accommodation Cell Risk Assessment (SACRA) 
tool. 
 
In February 2015, the Department engaged an independent researcher to undertake 
a review of double-bunking at Northland Region Corrections Facility (NRCF). The 
objective of the review was to:  
 

 place the current cell sharing practices in the comparative context of single-
cells; 

 examine aspects of NRCF’s current operations under conditions of expanded 
cell sharing and increased operating capacity; 

 and to identify stakeholder suggestions for enhancing the site’s capacity to 
operate at maximum capacity.  
 

The review focused on the effect of double-bunking in the areas of prisoner 
wellbeing, staff and prisoner safety, staffing, gang activity, access to programmes, 
and observance and promotion of tikanga Māori principles. 
 
The review included interviews conducted by two researchers with management, 
staff and prisoners over four days.  Analysis provided by the Department included a 
review of incident, programme, staffing and gang affiliation data. Literature on 
international perspectives on double-bunking and the affidavit were also reviewed.  
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Findings 
 
Overall, the results of the research suggest that the expansion of double-bunking 
and subsequent increased muster at NRCF have had positive and negative effects 
on the areas covered by the review.  
 
Please note that the research report was prepared with input from a small sample 
size of prisoners and staff members. It is not within the scope of the report to verify 
the veracity of the comments made by the interviewees. Although the prisoners and 
staff members have made attributions between their experiences and the impacts of 
shared cell accommodation, it would require a wider study of multiple prison sites to 
provide clearer evidence of any causal connections. 
 
Prisoner wellbeing 
 
Reported positive effects on prisoner wellbeing included decreased loneliness, 
increased social and emotional support, improved monitoring of cellmates’ physical 
and emotional health, and reductions in self-harm.   
 
In contrast, there were reports that double-bunking facilitates abuse and bullying 
between cellmates, particularly overnight. However, data suggests that those housed 
in single-bunked accommodation are more likely to be involved in these types of 
incidents.  
 
Prisoners and staff safety 
 
There were no recent reports of major incidents in which custodial or non-custodial 
staff safety was compromised. However, some staff perceived that double-bunking 
had increased risks to their safety. Some concerns were specific to double-bunking, 
such as the potential for prisoner assault on staff during lockup and unlock.  
Whereas, other concerns were associated with the increased muster.  Training and a 
staff safety forum focused on processes for managing staff safety in the context of 
double-bunking have been implemented to mitigate these risks. 
 
Numerous processes are in place at NRCF to support prisoner safety, including the 
risk assessment through the SACRA tool.  All prisoners interviewed reported feeling 
safe in their current double-bunking arrangement. Nevertheless, some staff and 
prisoners raised concerns that the increased muster could occasionally impact on 
the administration of the SACRA risk assessment processes.  
 
Staffing 
 
The reported main effects of double-bunking on staffing related to the increased 
administrative burden from matching cellmates and managing the additional muster, 
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as well as managing standard operational tasks. These tasks were reportedly 
detracting from the time Corrections Officers had to engage in relationship 
management and pro-social modelling with prisoners. Staff felt that even though the 
prison operates at 105 percent staffing level and prisoner to staff ratios are being 
maintained, ongoing staff attendance and retention issues had been exacerbated by 
the increased muster. In combination, these factors were said to contribute to staff 
turnover.   
    
Access to programmes 
 
Staff reported that the expansion of double-bunking has been accompanied by an 
increase in optional programmes and improved access to recreational facilities such 
as the gym. However, data show that programme waitlists have increased. The 
review could not determine whether this reflected a growth in demand exceeding the 
increased programme capacity or improved referral processes. In any case, 
problems of programme access appear to be compounded by staff attendance and 
retention issues, and limited meeting space to accommodate the needs of the 
expanded muster. Most stakeholders felt that double-bunking could enhance or 
impinge upon prisoners’ engagement with programmes depending on who they were 
celled with and the quality of that relationship. 
 
Gang activity 
 
Stakeholders acknowledged that gangs are active in a prison environment 
regardless of bunking status. At the same time, they generally perceived that double-
bunking facilitated gang related activities, as lockdowns provide uninterrupted 
opportunities for recruitment, tattooing and standover tactics.  Data indicates that 
there has been an approximate 10 percent increase in gang membership since the 
expansion of double-bunking.  
 
Observance and promotion of tikanga Māori principles 
 
Feedback suggests that double-bunking and increased muster have a positive effect 
on promoting tikanga Māori values. Reportedly, interest in tikanga programmes has 
increased and there is more tikanga activity within the units since the expansion of 
double-bunking.  Findings also suggest that double-bunking impinges negatively 
upon some cultural values such as rangatiratanga (self-determination and self-
management), and things tapu, such as reaching over someone which is 
unavoidable in a double-bunked cell. 
 
Other key findings 
 
In addition to identifying mixed effects of double-bunking and the associated 
increase in muster, the results of the review highlight the following four key findings: 
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 the review found that there are inconsistencies between the qualitative 

interviews and quantitative data. 
 feedback from management tends to align with the quantitative data 

suggesting that there is a divergence between the views of management and 
some staff on the perceived effects of double-bunking on staffing, safety and 
prison operations. 

 the effects of double-bunking and the associated increased muster reported 
by prisoners and staff seem to be compounded by infrastructure and staffing 
issues mentioned above.  

 many of the concerns recently brought to the Department’s attention were 
supported by feedback from prisoners and front-line staff.   

 
Literature review 
 
A review of the literature also presents mixed findings for the effects of double-
bunking on staff safety, programmes and prison operations. However, it suggests 
that double-bunking may be managed effectively with appropriate risk assessment 
processes, appropriate resourcing for programmes and other services and 
maintenance of appropriate prisoner to staff ratios.  
 
Opportunities for improvement 
 
Stakeholder feedback indicates there are opportunities for improvement in regards to 
staff recruitment and development or restructure of infrastructure at NRCF. In turn, 
these improvements might help to alleviate some of the concerns that staff have 
about safety as well as their concerns about workload, which may have flow on 
effects on work quality and staff retention.  
 
For the most part, staff and prisoners have accepted the reality of double-bunking 
despite a preference for single-bunked cells. With some improvements, negative 
impacts of double-bunking on safety, staffing, programme access and engagement 
and tikanga Māori could be reduced. 
 



1

From:
Sent: 14 May 2018 09:09 a.m.
To:  
Cc:
Subject: SENS OIA - BAW Russell requesting research considered by Corrections in the note to 

the Corrections Amendment Bill - C95403
Attachments: Background info C95403.docx; Draft response C95403.docx; Summary of the report 

into double-bunking at NRCF.DOCX

Good morning all,  
  
Can you all please review the attached documents for C95403 and confirm via return email, within 24 hours, if you are 
happy with this release.  
  
In the event that we do not hear back from you, the correspondence will proceed through the sign off process.  
  
If you have any questions, please ask.  
  
Many thanks, 
 

. 
 

9(2)(a)
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9(2)(a) 9(2)(a)
9(2)(a)
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From:
Sent: 14 May 2018 01:44 p.m.
To:
Cc:
Subject: FW: Summary of the report into double-bunking at NRCF
Attachments: Summary of the report into double-bunking at NRCF.DOCX

Hi , we are broadly happy with what is there.  , who was involved with the work, has raised an issue in relation 
to the summary.  In the one respect noted she thinks it could be fuller.  I leave it you to decide how to deal with that. 
 
Cheers 
 

 
 
 

 | Principal Strategic Analyst | Research & Analysis 
Service Development | Department of Corrections Ara Poutama Aotearoa 
Mayfair House, 44-52 The Terrace | Wellington | 6140 

 
 
 
 
 
 

From:   
Sent: 14 May 2018 10:40 a.m. 
To:  
Subject: Summary of the report into double-bunking at NRCF 
 
This is largely a cut and paste of the executive summary of the report, with a minor sentence structure issue introduced 
and slightly liberal paraphrasing introduced, which I have highlighted. 
 

    

9(2)(a)

9(2)(a)

9(2)(a)
9(2)(a)

9(2)(a) 9(
2)
(a
)

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
such as the potential for prisoner assault on staff during lockup and unlock, w.  
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

Comment [BJ(1]: The report actually 
says that “Nevertheless, some staff and 
prisoners raised concerns about risk 
assessment processes. For example, 
corrections officers reported that 
pressure to fill cells meant that short 
cuts were sometime being taken in the 
SACRA assessment.” Prisoners’ 
concerns around SACRA were slightly 
different.  
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
Sent: 14 May 2018 09:47 a.m.
To:  
Cc:
Subject: RE: SENS OIA - BAW Russell requesting research considered by Corrections in the note 

to the Corrections Amendment Bill - C95403

No issue with this response. 
 

 | Manager Custodial Practice| 
  

 
 

From:   
Sent: 14 May 2018 9:09 a.m. 
To:   
Cc:  
Subject: SENS OIA - BAW Russell requesting research considered by Corrections in the note to the Corrections 
Amendment Bill - C95403 
 
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
Sent: 20 May 2018 04:25 p.m.
To:
Subject: RE: Official Information request - Research on cell sharing - C95403

Hi  
 
I am fine with the response and will pass on to Jo to sign. 
 

  I don’t think she has seen it so far.  When 
you sent me the earlier draft, I redirected you to  and  to review before it went to Jo, and that was the last I 
heard of it.   
 
Cheers,  
 

| Service Development –Principal Analyst | 
National Office | Department of Corrections Ara Poutama Aotearoa |  
44 – 52 The Terrace, Wellington 6140 | Private Bag 1206| 

 | 

  
  
 

From:   
Sent: 18 May 2018 4:44 p.m. 
To:  
Subject: FW: Official Information request - Research on cell sharing - C95403 
 
Hi , 
 
As discussed, please find attached all documents for SENS OIA C95403.  
 
Please note that this has been extended under the OIA so the official due date is now 15 June 2018. However, the 
requester is asking that this be treated as urgent given that the bill is currently before Select Committee, so we are aiming
to get a response to him as soon as possible. 
 
Please let me know if you are happy with this release and I can arrange a copy on letterhead for Jo’s signature.  
 
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
Sent: 14 May 2018 9:00 a.m. 
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

9(2)
(a)

9(2)(a)

9(2)(a)
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From:
Sent: 24 May 2018 11:58 a.m.
To:
Cc:
Subject: RE: Official Information request - Research on cell sharing - Corrections Amendment 

Bill - C95403

Hi  
 
The exact percentage of cells that are double bunked is 31.2%.  Our communications still say approximately 30% which 
is accurate. 
 
 

 | Workforce Management Lead | 
 |  

 

From:   
Sent: 24 May 2018 9:38 a.m. 
To:  
Subject: FW: Official Information request - Research on cell sharing - Corrections Amendment Bill - C95403 
 
For your response please 
 
 

 | Programme Director | 
 |  

 

From:   
Sent: 24 May 2018 9:15 a.m. 
To:  
Subject: RE: Official Information request - Research on cell sharing - Corrections Amendment Bill - C95403 
 
Morning , 
 
Sorry were you able to come back to me today on the below? 
 
We are hoping to get our response out asap.  
 
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
Sent: 23 May 2018 9:55 a.m. 
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To:  
Subject: RE: Official Information request - Research on cell sharing - Corrections Amendment Bill - C95403 
 
Hi  
 
So sorry, just to clarify, even with the increase in muster the % of double-bunking is still currently at about 30%?  
 
That is the percentage we’ve stated in our response.  
 
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
Sent: 03 May 2018 11:23 a.m. 
To:    
Subject: RE: Official Information request - Research on cell sharing - Corrections Amendment Bill - C95403 
 
No problem from me.  The muster numbers will need to be updated yes, the % of double bunking is still around 30% 
 
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
that was done in response to legal action from a   
 
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
 
Cheers, Ed 
 

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
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